STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

SEP 24 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY

The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-001042
Lower Court Case No. 2013-GS-47-00008

THE STATE, PETITIONER,

v.

ARTHUR M. FIELD, RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

S. CREIGHTON WATERS
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

BRIAN T. PETRANO
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3693
cwaters@scag.gov

Mr. James Todd Rutherford
The Rutherford Law Firm, LLC
PO Box 1452
Columbia, SC 29202-1452

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR WHEN IT AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT, WHICH ILLEGALLY GAVE RESPONDENT PRISON CREDIT FOR PRE-TRIAL TIME HE SIMPLY DID NOT EARN WHILE MERELY BEING MONITORED BUT NOT ON HOUSE ARREST, WHERE THE STATUTE CLEARLY AND UNAMBIGUOUSLY PROVIDES THAT PRISON CREDIT CAN ONLY BE GIVEN FOR "MONITORED HOUSE ARREST"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a State's appeal arising from the denial of the State's motion to reconsider sentence.

On June 13, 2012, the State Grand Jury of South Carolina (the "State Grand Jury") returned a true billed indictment (the "Indictment") charging Respondent Arthur M. Field and his co-defendant Scott Pfeiffer with fourteen counts including securities fraud, forgery and conspiracy. **(App. pp. 1 – 91)**. Judge J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. was assigned continuing jurisdiction in the case.

Ultimately, Respondent pled guilty before the trial court on May 6, 2013 to all fourteen counts, under a plea agreement where the Court had discretion to sentence Respondent from zero to twenty-three years in prison. **(App. p. 157, p. 184)**. Sentencing was deferred pursuant to the agreement until after disposition of codefendant F. Scott Pfeiffer's case. Pfeiffer pled guilty on September 18, 2013. On October 8, 2013, Respondent was sentenced to a lead active sentence of twenty-six (26) months, with credit given for 33 days served pre-trial in county jail, and 15 months on house arrest pursuant to an amendment to S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (Supp. 2015) allowing such credit. Respondent was ordered to pay restitution of \$2,877,711.73 to the victims of the CIF case. **(App. pp. 265 – 266, p. 271, p. 292)**.

The State filed and served a timely Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence on October 16, 2013. **(App. pp. 288 – 289)**. Meanwhile, Pfeiffer filed motions for reconsideration on September 20, 2013 and October 17, 2013. A hearing was held on the State's and Pfeiffer's motions on July 9, 2014. **(App. pp. 293 – 326)**. Judge Maddox

subsequently issued orders on January 23, 2015, in which he denied the State's motion to reconsider which is the subject of the instant appeal. **(App. pp. 327 – 328).**

The Court of Appeals issued its first order denying relief on December 6, 2017. **(App. p. 375).** Appellant's [1st] Petition for Rehearing was filed December 20, 2017. **(App. p. 378).** Respondent filed a Return to Petition for Rehearing on February 5, 2018. **(App. p. 383).** The Court of Appeals issued an Order denying Appellant's [1st] Petition for Rehearing on April 4, 2018, but also withdrew the prior opinion and substituted a new opinion. **(App. p. 388 – 390).** Respondent filed Petition for Rehearing #2 on April 19, 2018. **(App. p. 391).** The Court of Appeals denied Petition for Rehearing #2 on May 7, 2018. **(App. p. 396).** The Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed June 6, 2018. The Return was filed July 9, 2018. This Court granted certiorari on August 21, 2018.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As noted before, Respondent was indicted by the South Carolina State Grand Jury for two counts of conspiracy, eleven counts of securities fraud, and one count of forgery. The indictment generally alleged that Respondent and his codefendant defrauded South Carolina investors by concealing and misstating material information in connection with the offer and sale of notes by the now defunct Capital Investment Funding, LLC ("CIF"). **(App. pp. 1 – 91)**. Ultimately, CIF lost tens of millions of dollars of the money of some 688 victims. **(App. p. 203, p. 243)**.

When Respondent was first indicted, his bond was set on June 21, 2012 by Judge G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. at a \$2,000,000 surety. **(App. p. 112, pp. 151 – 154)**. Ultimately, Respondent moved to reconsider the bond, and on July 19, 2012 Judge DeAndrea Benjamin lowered the bond to a \$500,000 surety, along with home confinement including GPS tracking. **(App. p. 135, pp. 151 – 154)**. Respondent made a subsequent motion to reconsider bond, which was heard before Judge Benjamin on December 13, 2012. At the hearing, Respondent's counsel expressly asked that he be taken off of the house arrest and the GPS monitoring. **(App. pp. 142 – 143)**. The trial court ruled as follows:

Well, what I'll do is at this point, I'll take, I'll take the house arrest off so he can go, but I'll leave the, I'm going to leave the bracelet on and give [Respondent's counsel] leave to come back in ninety days. Or, or if something else changes before then, within ninety days regarding the bracelets. But we'll, we'll take the house arrest off and the restrictions regarding the house arrest.

(App. p. 147, 14-21). The Bond Order signed by Judge Benjamin similarly held that “[t]he Motion to Amend Bond as to House Arrest is granted; as to GPS tracking it is denied”.

(App. pp. 151 – 154).

As noted before, Respondent pled guilty in May 2013 and sentencing was deferred pending resolution of the codefendant’s case. Judge Maddox specifically noted that all bond conditions would remain the same pending Respondent’s sentencing. **(App. pp. 182 – 183).**

Following the codefendant’s plea and sentencing, Respondent was sentenced on October 8, 2013. Respondent’s counsel misspoke in arguing that Judge Benjamin had declined to take him off of home confinement, and that Respondent had been on home confinement since he got out on bond. **(App. p. 253, lines 3 - 13).** Later, Respondent argued that he should receive fifteen months for time he claimed he served on house arrest from bond in July of 2012 to sentencing in October of 2013. **(App. pp. 257 – 258).** Respondent also argued to the judge that while under the statute one could get credit for pre-trial time on house arrest, one could not get good time for it. **(App. p. 258, lines 12-14).** Ultimately, the trial court sentenced Respondent to a lead active sentence of twenty-six (26) months, with credit given for 33 days served pre-trial in county jail, and 15 months on house arrest. **(App. pp. 265 – 266).**

SCDC processed Respondent through and out in five days based on its calculation of the credit given, and the State then filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence, giving a procedural history, discussing the good time issue, and stating: “pursuant to the plea agreement any sentence is in the discretion of the Court, so the

State has simply filed this motion to reconsider to preserve jurisdiction in case the sentencing result is inconsistent with this Court's intent." **(App. pp. 288 – 289).**

A hearing on Respondent and Pfeiffer's motion for reconsideration was held on July 9, 2014. The State's first point was that it appeared SCDC had given good time credit for the house arrest time, which had led to a result which seemed inconsistent with the judge's intent at the plea, and that it had simply filed the motion to reconsider to preserve jurisdiction in case the court wished to correct it. **(App. pp. 299 – 300).** Respondent argued that the judge could not resentence on reconsideration simply because the judge did not like how good time was calculated, and that the State had agreed to stay silent on sentencing. **(App. pp. 302 – 303).** The judge stated he "appreciated" and was "glad" the State filing the motion to preserve jurisdiction. **(App. p. 307, lines 8 - 9, p. 312, lines 24 - 25).**

Second, the State argued that there was a factual error in the calculation of the time on house arrest Respondent actually served, as he only served 4.83 months because Judge Benjamin removed the house arrest in December of 2012. He did not serve the fifteen months that for which the judge had given him credit. **(App. pp. 303 – 307).** Respondent argued that he should receive credit because he was still on monitoring and cooperating with the State at the time. **(App. pp. 309 – 312, p. 317).** The State was clear that it was not arguing whether or not Respondent should get any credit for house arrest time – but only that any credit he was given be limited to the accurate amount of what he actually served. **(App. p. 307, lines 13 – 23, p. 316 lines 1 – 10).**

The trial court agreed the State was correct about the court's intent, stating "quite frankly, the twenty-six months in prison is what I thought he was going to do minus some period of time". (**App. p. 319, lines 2 – 4**). The parties disagreed on whether monitoring alone was sufficient for house arrest, with the State pointing out the statute said "monitored house arrest". (**App. p. 321**).

The court ultimately thought the statute was ambiguous, stating that while he "frankly agree[d] with you-all [the State], and if it was appealed, [the court] would lose", he was going to leave the sentence the way it was. The court ultimately signed an order denying the State's motion, stating that while it did not dispute the State's contentions as to the proper amount of credit, it was electing instead to lower the codefendant's sentence. (**App. pp. 327 – 328**).

On appeal by the State, the Court of Appeals initially found that the bond court only orally removed house arrest, but the written order retained house arrest and controlled. (**App. 376-77**). When the State pointed out on rehearing that this was completely incorrect and the written order did remove house arrest, the Court of Appeals completely reversed course and held that the trial court elected to "fix" the legally improper credit given to Respondent, by lowering his codefendant's sentence. (**App. 378-80, 389**).

It is from these decisions that the State appeals.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED WHEN IT AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT, WHICH ILLEGALLY GAVE RESPONDENT PRISON CREDIT FOR PRE-TRIAL TIME HE SIMPLY DID NOT EARN WHILE MERELY BEING MONITORED BUT NOT ON HOUSE ARREST, WHERE THE STATUTE CLEARLY AND UNAMBIGUOUSLY PROVIDES THAT PRISON CREDIT CAN ONLY BE GIVEN FOR "MONITORED HOUSE ARREST".

While the factual recitation is a bit involved, the legal analysis is not. Here, Respondent was given credit for pre-trial time when he was on GPS monitoring but not on house arrest, and he was not entitled to such time under the clear language of the statute.

The Court of Appeals initially issued an opinion in which it affirmed the trial court, by ruling that the bond court's written order controlled and it did not remove the house arrest. (**App. p. 326-27**). The State filed a petition for rehearing pointing out that the Court of Appeals' conclusion was simply not the case – the bond order also clearly removed the house arrest component in writing. (**App. 153** (*"Motion to Amend Bond as to House Arrest is granted, as to GPS tracking it is denied."*)).

This was the crucial point, as the statute unambiguously only allows pre-trial prison credit "for any time spent under monitored house arrest". S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40 (as amended by 2013 South Carolina Laws Act 34 (H.B. 3193)). As the State pointed out in its brief, "monitored" is but an adjective for "house arrest". Monitoring is alone not enough and neither is unmonitored house arrest. The statute does NOT say "monitoring and/or house arrest", or even just "house arrest". As such, since Respondent did not have house arrest after December 13, 2012 despite the fact that he was monitored, then by the plain and unambiguous language of the statute he was not legally entitled to credit beyond that

date.¹ (App. 337, 340-41).

Faced with its crucial factual conclusion being completely wrong and an inarguable point of statutory construction, the Court of Appeals on rehearing did a wholesale turnaround and this time affirmed on a completely different basis – with the idea that the circuit court “agreed with the State’s contentions” that Respondent’s sentence was contrary to law – but sought to somehow fix the error as to Appellant’s sentence by instead lowering the sentence of a co-defendant.² State v. Field, Unpub. Op. No. 2017-UP-455 (S.C. Ct. App. filed December 6, 2017).

Appellant respectfully submits that the circuit court cannot ignore the law in its sentencing order, and give someone credit for prison time he neither could nor did earn under an unequivocal interpretation of statutory law, by simply lowering the sentence of a completely different person. Two wrongs do not make a right. The trial court gave Respondent credit that he is not legally entitled to receive and this is a clear error of law that should be corrected. See generally Crooks v. State, 326 S.C. 171, 485 S.E.2d 374 (2000) (reversing order of PCR court that improperly gave petitioner jail credit to which he was not entitled under the law).

A circuit court lacks discretion to fashion a sentence that is contrary to the law. The circuit court and the Court of Appeals should be reversed because Respondent received credit for fifteen months, when in fact he should have only received time when he was on

¹ It should be noted that the original bill had only the words “house arrest”, and it was subsequently only referred out of the House Committee on Judiciary when the bill was amended to make the word “monitored” a necessary modifier of “house arrest”.

See http://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess120_2013-2014/bills/3193.htm

² Appellant notes that the validity of the modification of co-defendant’s sentence is also pending before this Court in a separate matter State v. Pfeiffer, Unpub. Op. No. 2018-UP-130 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 28, 2018) *petition for reh’g denied*.

"monitored" house arrest -- from July 21, 2012 until December 13, 2012, or 145 days.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted this Court should reverse the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the order of the trial court denying the State's motion for reconsideration.

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

S. CREIGHTON WATERS
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

BRIAN T. PETRANO
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-2693



S. Creighton Waters
ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER.

September 24, 2018.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

SEP 24 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Pickens County
The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-001042
Lower Court Case No. 2013-GS-47-00008

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

vs.

ARTHUR M. FIELD,

Respondent.