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

## LEGAL ARGUMENT

### I. THIS APPEAL IS UNTIMELY AND SHOULD BE DISMISSED.

Rule 203(b)(2) requires the State serve a notice of appeal "within ten (10) days of ... entry of the order or judgment." Rule 203(b)(2), SCACR. "After a plea...resulting in conviction...a notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents within ten (10) days after the sentence is imposed...." Moreover, pursuant to Rule 29 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, post-trial motions must be timely made and toll the 10-day period only until the reconsideration is decided. Rule 29, SCRPC. Failure to timely file notice of appeal deprives this court of jurisdiction, as this court has repeatedly stated. *Sadisco of Greenville, Inc. v. Greenville County Board of Zoning Appeals*, 340 S.C. 57, 59, 530 S.E.2d 383 (2000); *State v. Scott*, 351 S.C. 584, 571 S.E.2d 700 (2002). Although written notice is generally required, the gravamen of Rule 203 is to ensure the parties have sufficient notice of the Court's Order.<sup>8</sup>

---

<sup>8</sup> "We find Warren's motion to reconsider her sentence, like the motion to withdraw a guilty plea, is subject to the ten day time period prescribed in Rule 29; thus, because the motion was filed more than three years after imposition of the sentence, Warren's motion is not timely." *State v. Ivory Warren*, No. 4804 (S.C. App. 2011). See *Hill v. S.C.*

Since the State failed to timely appeal Respondent's sentence, or the denial of its Motion to Reconsider, this appeal must be dismissed. Respondent was sentenced on October 8, 2013. No appeal was filed. The Motion to Reconsider was timely filed, but only subsequent to Respondent's release, after a determination by the D.O.C. that release was appropriate<sup>9</sup>. The State's Motion to Reconsider was heard—and clearly denied—on July 9, 2014. After several hours of argument on such motion (and on an alleged probation violation) the Court denied the State's motion. There is no doubt that the State had full actual, express, implied, legal and/or inquiry notice as to the court's Order on July 9, 2014 as well as all motions pertaining to Respondent and Pfeiffer.<sup>10</sup> The State did not appeal by July 19, 2014—which would have been 10 days after its Motion for Reconsideration was denied in open court despite ample actual, express, legal and implied notice of Judge Maddox's decision. No appeal was filed until February 2015.

The law imposes a very strict 10-day time clock to force a party to appeal immediately following sentencing or denial of reconsideration of such sentence—assuming the State even had a right to appeal (It is the position of Respondent that the State had no right to appeal pursuant to the Plea Agreement). In the instant action, the State failed to appeal within the 10-day timeframe prescribed and Respondent would be severely prejudiced if the State were allowed to proceed with this untimely appeal. As such, law and equity dictate that this appeal should be dismissed or denied.

---

*Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 389 S.C.1, 21, 698 S.E.2d 612, 623 (2010); *State v. Brown*, 358 S.C. 382,387, 596 S.E.2d 39, 41 (2004).

<sup>9</sup> Had Respondent been incarcerated only 3 days longer or reported to Anderson County on October 14, 2013, the Motion to Reconsider would have been untimely. The same 10 days should be applied to the July 9, 2014 Motion to Reconsider.

<sup>10</sup> A revised Order to D.P.P.P.S. within 30 days of the July 9, 2014 hearing.

Should the State argue that a subsequent Order issued regarding Pfeiffer constitutes a final decision regarding Respondent, this contention is without merit. *Bordeaux v. State*, 410 S.C.495, 765 S.E.2d 143 (2014), establishes that oral pronouncement controls if the Court's decision aligns with a Plea Agreement.<sup>11</sup> To the extent any written Order was delayed or ambiguous in the instant action, the oral pronouncement of the sentence by Judge Maddox and the denial of reconsideration must control. Hence, the ruling on July 9, 2014 should stand. Moreover, even if the Court's articulation of its decision is not controlling, Respondent should not be penalized for any failure of the State or the State Grand Jury Clerk<sup>12</sup> to act in a timely manner, thus, delaying the issuance or publication of any further written Order of the Court. Furthermore, the State should not be permitted to misuse any subsequent Order regarding Pfeiffer's release against Respondent to 're-start' the 10-day time clock.

Respondent could reasonably have expected the reconsideration denial would be treated the same as the restitution revision Order. The State has failed to demonstrate any justifiable grounds for the delay, if any existed, in the issuance or execution of such reconsideration Order by the State Grand Jury Clerk, under its control, or Judge Maddox. It is unjust and unfair to penalize Respondent for such delay, when Respondent justifiably relied upon the State's inaction and has conducted his life accordingly.

---

<sup>11</sup> An unambiguous sentence pronouncement will control, whether oral or written, if the sentence is in consonance with the Plea Agreement. See, e.g., *Boan v. State*, 388 S.C. 272, 277, 695 S.E.2d 850, 852 (2010)(declining to give effect to an unambiguous sentencing sheet over an unambiguous plea colloquy because to do so would result in deprivation of the defendant's rights to due process).

<sup>12</sup> State Grand Jury Clerk of Court, James Parks, has been claimed as an employee, agent of, or under the direction and control of the Attorney General's Office by Attorney General Alan Wilson. See *Pascoe v. James R. Parks, Clerk of Court for the State Grand Jury*, 2016-000671 (S.C. 7/13/2016).

## II. THIS APPEAL IS NOT PERMITTED AT LAW BECAUSE OF THE RECIPROCAL WAIVER OF APPEAL CONTAINED IN THE PLEA AGREEMENT.

“Regarding plea bargains in general and the law applicable to them, this State and its courts have generally followed federal Fourth Circuit precedent.” *State v. Thrift*, 312 S.C. 282,292, 440 S.E.2d 341, 347 (1994) discussing *Santobello v. N.Y.*, 404 U.S.257 (1971) and *U.S. v. Ringling*, 988 F.2d 504 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993). This case must be held to the same standard. The Plea Agreement the Respondent and the State are effectively barred from pursuing any appeals or raising any challenges or issues to the sentence rendered by the Court. The Plea Agreement in this matter does not contain explicit language allowing the State to appeal or move to reconsider any sentence by the Court. As a result, the State’s motion should be denied and the appeal dismissed.

In *United States v. Guevera*, 941 F.2d 1299 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991)(rehearing *en banc* denied by 8 to 4 vote, 90-5840 11/14/91) *cert. den.* 503 U.S.977 (1992)), the Fourth Circuit held that “a plea agreement provision that bars the defendant from appealing, but is silent as to the government’s right to appeal, *must* be construed as imposing a reciprocal limitation on the Government’s right to challenge a judgment or sentence imposed by the...court.” *Id.* at 1299. The Fourth Circuit quoted *Guevera, supra*, with approval in *U.S. v. Blick*, 408 F.3d 162, n.5 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2005)(“when a defendant waives the right to appeal in a plea agreement, ‘such a provision against appeals must also be enforced against the government’.”)

The Fourth Circuit has made it abundantly clear if the Government causes a defendant to waive appellate rights, but wishes to reserve appellate rights to itself, it must *explicitly* do so in the

Plea Agreement. *Id.*<sup>13</sup> Failure to make such an explicit reservation by the State causes a waiver. *Guevera* rests on the view that a guilty-plea agreement that includes a defendant's appeal waiver but not one by the state is far too "one-sided" if it were to be construed to allow the government to appeal. *Id.* at 1299. This appeal by the State contravenes the constitutional holdings by the Courts and allowing the State to pursue such appeal is not only a breach of the Plea Agreement but a violation of Respondent's due process rights.

Respondent was induced by the Plea Agreement to waive his state and federal constitutional rights to appeal or to seek habeas corpus—both are significant rights. Respondent waived the right to appeal by signing the Plea Agreement; such waiver is automatically reciprocal. Pursuant to the Plea Agreement, Respondent specifically and irrevocably waived his state and federal rights to appeal or collaterally attack his sentence—and the State agreed such sentencing was intended to be final and complete. Paragraph 7 of the agreement provides as follows:

**(7) Waiver of direct appeals and collateral attacks:** Mr. Field hereby waives any entitlement to and agrees never to pursue any and all direct appeals, post-conviction relief applications and appeals therefrom, state habeas corpus petitions and appeals therefrom, federal habeas corpus petitions and appeals therefrom, or any and all other methods of direct or collateral review of these convictions and sentences. Mr. Field hereby acknowledges that he fully understands the nature and extent of the direct and collateral review he is waiving and is making the waiver in this provision freely, intelligently, and voluntarily. *It is the intent of the parties that this agreement and the resulting pleas and sentences finally conclude any and all existing or possible legal proceedings related to indictment 12-GS-47-008 whether*

---

<sup>13</sup> The U.S. Attorney acknowledges that failure to explicitly reserve the right to appeal to the government waives such right, but that such waiver is often needed in order to obtain a Plea Agreement. "In the interest of striking a bargain, [the government] may decide that it is necessary for the government to waive its appeal rights... This may be especially appropriate when a negotiated plea reflects the parties' agreement in connection with a particular sentence, sentencing range, or guideline application." *U.S. v. Guevera, supra*. The Attorney General often tries to enforce plea agreements appellate waivers by defendants in South Carolina and the same restriction should be applied to the State herein based upon *Guevera*.

*direct or collateral, and that all that remains is for Respondent to serve any sentence given by the Court in the manner provided by state law.* (Emphasis added)

The State made no contention that Respondent breached such Plea Agreement at any time. On the contrary, the State expressed its extreme satisfaction with Respondent's performance to Judge Maddox at sentencing and to the media immediately following sentencing. Respondent's counsel raised objection to the State's Motion to Reconsideration based upon the Plea Agreement covenants in the hearing before Judge Maddox on July 9, 2014, thereby preserving all issues for this Court.

The Plea Agreement did not permit any objection at any time during or following sentencing and is binding on the State. The Motion to Reconsider violated the Plea Agreement, and the right to bring such Motion was not preserved. *The State did not explicitly preserve to itself any appellate right whatsoever in the Plea Agreement.* The Plea Agreement expressly states it "is the intent of the parties that this agreement and the resulting pleas and sentences finally conclude *any and all existing or possible legal proceedings* relating to the indictment 12-GS-47-008 whether direct or collateral..." The plain language of the Plea Agreement precludes both the State and the Respondent barring both reconsideration and appeal.<sup>14</sup>

The State drafted the Plea Agreement and had full benefit of Respondent's cooperation. Permitting the State to renege on the binding Plea Agreement is unjust, unfair and violates the Respondent's due process rights. A waiver by the State is a waiver for all time and on all issues. As such, the State has waived all its appellate rights, both as a matter of contract and of law

---

<sup>14</sup> And, if that is not the case, then Respondent did not enter into this Plea Agreement knowingly and voluntarily or it was obtained by the State through false inducements and under false pretenses.

applicable in this Circuit and State. Hence, this appeal must be dismissed immediately in the interests of equity and justice.

**III. THE STATE'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER THE SENTENCE AND THIS APPEAL ARE MATERIAL BREACHES OF THE PLEA AGREEMENT OF WHICH RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.**

“The plea agreement process is an essential aspect of the administration of criminal justice ...As a result, the courts have a vital interest in assuring such agreements are adhered to and handled properly.” *U.S. v. Harvey*, 791 F.2d 294, 300 (4th Cir. 1986). A Defendant is entitled to the full benefit of the bargain of the contractual Plea Agreement. *State v. Thrift*, 312 S.C. 282, 292, 440 S.E.2d 341, 347 (1994). “When a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise...of the prosecutor so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled.” *Santobello v. U.S.*, 404 U.S.257,262, 92 S. Ct. 495, 30 L.Ed.2d 427 (1971). A plea agreement rests on contractual principles and each party is entitled to receive the benefit of its bargain even if the result is a considerably reduced sentence by the court. See, *U.S. v. Dawson*, 587 F.3d 640,645 (4th Cir. 2009); *U. S. v. Ringling*, 988 F.2d 504 (4th Cir. 1993); *U.S. v. Dews*, 551 F.3d 204 (4th Cir. 2008)(sentence reduced). Plea agreement analysis must be more stringent than a commercial contract, because the rights involved are fundamental and constitutionally based. The State has immense power and is held to the utmost standards in the criminal prosecution of individuals and must be held to a higher degree or responsibility than a defendant for imprecisions or ambiguities. *Id.*; *Thrift, supra*.

The State may not withdraw from the plea arrangement or do any act in derogation of the contract. *Custodio v. State*, 373 S.C. 4, 644 S.E.2d 36 (S.C. 2007)(specific enforcement mandated);

*U. S. v. White*, 366 F.3d 291 (4th Cir. 2004) (Government's refusal to abide by ... promise would clearly constitute evidence of "government overreaching" or "fraud in the inducement"). Prosecutors are legally obligated to fulfill the promises they make to defendants who are induced to plead guilty. *State v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 370, 652 S.E.2d 444 (Ct.App. 2007). Defendants have an absolute right to the enforcement of the plea agreement after its acceptance by defendant, performance and approval by the court. The prosecution is not permitted to withdraw from the agreement once it has been accepted by the court. *Jordan v. State*, 297 S.C. 152, 374 S.E.2d 683 (1988); *Santobello v. N.Y.*, 404 U.S. at 262 (1971).

Moreover, "A defendant entering into a plea agreement with the government undertakes to waive certain fundamental constitutional rights; because of that waiver, the government is required to meet the most meticulous standards of both promise and performance." *U.S. v. Gonczy*, 357 F.3d 50, 53 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir. 2004). The analysis of whether the defendant is receiving every advantage and benefit of the bargain is conducted with great scrutiny in his favor since the defendant has waived so many fundamental rights. *U.S. v. McQueen*, 108 F.3d 64, 66 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996). "As a result, the government is held to a greater degree of responsibility than the defendant (or possibly than would either of the parties to a commercial contract) for imprecisions or ambiguities in plea agreements." *U.S. v. Wood*, 378 F.3d 342,348 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004). On appeal, this Court must enforce the Plea Agreement in the light most favorable to Respondent and against the State according to its terms, regardless of the State's wisdom or folly in not protecting its rights to object to the sentence, move to reconsider or appeal. *State v. Compton*, 366 S.C. 671,678, 623 S.E.2d 661, 665 (Ct.App. 2005).

“The breach of a promise made to induce a defendant to enter into a guilty plea-and thereby waive important constitutional rights-harms not only the defendant, but...involves the honor of the government, public confidence in the fair administration of justice, and the effective administration of justice...” *McQueen, supra*, 108 F.3d at 66. “Because a government that lives up to its commitments is the essence of liberty under law, the harm generated by allowing the government to forego its plea bargain obligations is one which cannot be tolerated.” *U.S. v. Peglera*, 33 F.3d 412, 414 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994).

The State’s Motion to Reconsider and the appeal in the instant action constitutes a material breach of the contractual Plea Agreement. Such breaches caused direct, substantial damage to Respondent. Specifically, Respondent was induced to enter into the Plea Agreement and cooperate by the State’s covenant not to challenge any portion of the sentencing-- as represented to Respondent by the State and its officers during the proffer and as set forth in Paragraphs 6 and 7 of the Plea Agreement. The State and its representatives informally and formally represented to Respondent and his undersigned counsel that it would not challenge the Court’s sentence at any time in any manner. It expressly promised in the Plea Agreement not to seek any specific sentence nor oppose any sentence pronounced nor enter into any further existing or possible legal proceedings based upon the indictment. The Plea Agreement clearly states it concludes all actions and bars any further ‘existing or possible’ legal proceedings by either party. The Motion to Reconsider and this appeal certainly fall within that prohibition.

The State drafted the Plea Agreement and Respondent is entitled to a liberal interpretation in his favor. The Court has no basis to ‘re-write’ it for what the government now wants it to mean to permit the challenge to the sentence. Upholding a Plea Agreement in a defendant’s favor is even

more important when a defendant, such as Respondent, provides substantial cooperation in furtherance of the public interest of obtaining resolution of criminal cases without the necessity of trial, as Judge Maddox determined Respondent had done in regard to Pfeiffer. See *State v. Mathis*, 287 S.C. 589, 592, 340 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1986). The appropriate remedy is the specific performance of the Plea Agreement and construction of all its terms in Respondent's favor. *State v. Sprouse*, 355 S.C. 335, 585 S.E.2d 278 (2003). Here, the Attorney General has willfully violated the Plea Agreement and this appeal must be denied, or the Plea was improperly extracted from Respondent or is vague and must be construed against its authors, the State.

The undersigned, as Respondent's counsel, argued at the hearing on July 9, 2014, that the State sought to effectively increase Respondent's period of actual incarceration without presenting any new facts or previously unavailable argument of law to justify its request. The State could only achieve such goal by objecting to the actual sentence and seeking a specific sentence of its own. Objecting to any sentence imposed and time credits awarded by Judge Maddox on October 8, 2013, was a direct breach of the letter and spirit of the Plea Agreement. Respondent's counsel vehemently objected to the State's attempt to 'back door' the prior sentencing. Respondent upheld his side of the bargain and was legally entitled to specific performance, and such agreement must be construed in Respondent's favor. Any other result violates public policy and deprives Respondent of due process and substantial rights. The Court determined that Respondent was entitled to the benefit of such bargain and that the primary intent of the Plea Agreement and sentencing had been fulfilled in its denial of the State's Motion to Reconsider.<sup>15</sup> Credits for 'time served' is a portion of the sentence and appears on every sentencing sheet signed by Judge Maddox

---

<sup>15</sup> See *State v. Blackmon*, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991); *State v. Dingle*, 376 S.C. 643, 649, 659 S.E.2d 101, 105 (2008)(State estopped from asserting ineligibility for parole after Plea Agreement).

on October 8, 2013. The sentence, the reduction, and the credits were based upon Respondent's cooperation, his entry of a plea, his acceptance of responsibility, and the time spent in incarceration and then confined to his home while under strict GPS monitoring. All components made up the sentence pronounced.

This appeal is an attempt to increase the period of incarceration and is a contractually forbidden attack on the original sentence which should be dismissed as a violation of the Plea Agreement and the appeal should be denied and the sentence upheld. Failure to do so will violate public policy, which favors Plea Agreements as inducement to obtain guilty pleas without the necessity of a trial. It would also send a message to all defendants not to enter into such an agreement with the State for fear of being renegeed upon.

#### **IV. THE LOWER COURT'S SENTENCE SHOULD BE AFIRMED AS JUDGE MADDOX PROPERLY USED HIS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING RESPONDENT'S SENTENCE.**

This court will give the trial court's finding great deference on appeal and review the trial court's ruling with a clearly erroneous standard. The trial court will not be reversed unless the appellant has shown a gross abuse of that discretion. *State v. Allen*, 370 S.C. 88, 94, 634 S.E.2d 653, 655 (2006). Where there is any evidence to support the court's factual findings, there is no abuse of discretion. *Id.* It is the responsibility of the trial judge to determine the priority and relationship of sentencing *objectives* in any particular case. 24 C.J.S. *Criminal Law* § 1460. Judge Maddox's Order indicates the *objective* of his sentence was fully met by the result herein and his sentence should be upheld.

As held in *State v. Brouwer*, 346 S.C. 375, 550 S.E.2d 915 (Ct.App. 2001) (sentence reduction affirmed):

A trial judge is allowed broad discretion in sentencing. ...*Brooks v. State*, 325 S.C. 269, 481 S.E.2d 712 (1997); *Garrett v. State*, 320 S.C. 353, 465 S.E.2d 349 (1995). See also *State v. Franklin*, 267 S.C. 240, 226 S.E.2d 896 (1976)(trial judge is given wide discretion in determining what sentence should be imposed)... The role of appellate courts in reviewing sentences is to determine: (1) whether the exercise of discretion by the sentencing court was based upon findings of fact grounded in competent, reasonably credible evidence; (2) whether the sentencing court applied the correct legal principles in exercising its discretion; and (3) whether the application of the facts to the law was such a clear error of judgment that it shocks the conscience. *State v. Megargel*, 673 A.2d 259 (N.J. 1996). There is a strong public policy against interference with a trial court's sentencing discretion. See *State v. Echols*, 499 N.W.2d 631 (Wis. 1993). The trial court has broad discretionary powers in imposing a sentence because it is generally in a better position than the reviewing court to determine the appropriate sentence by weighing such factors as the defendant's credibility, demeanor, general moral character, mentality, social environment, habits, and age. *People v. Hernandez*, 745 N.E.2d 673 (Ill. App. Ct. 2001).

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